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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	JOSEPH D. HUIT, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Claimant

                                                   v. 

ASHWATER-BURNS, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  201018436
AWCB Decision No.13-0080
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on July 15, 2013


Joseph D. Huit’s January 3, 2011 workers’ compensation claim was heard June 6, 2013 at Anchorage, Alaska.  The hearing date was selected at the September 24, 2012 prehearing conference.  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented Mr. Huit (Employee).  Attorney Robert Griffin represented Ashwater-Burns, Inc. and Commerce and Industry Insurance Co., (collectively, Employer).  Employee, Steven Huit, Marguerite Huit, and Nicole Blake, testified.  Eric Geiser and Reuben Blaustein testified by deposition.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing on June 6, 2013.

ISSUES
By the parties’ agreement, the only issue for hearing was whether employment was the substantial cause of employee’s injury; any questions regarding specific benefits are deferred to a later time.  Employee contends a scratch he received at work was the substantial cause of what became a life-threatening infection. Employer questions whether Employee was scratched at work, and contends that even if he was, the scratch was not the substantial cause of the subsequent infection.  Employer also contends Employee is not entitled to the presumption of compensability because he did not timely report the injury to Employer.

1.
Did Employee timely report the injury?

2.
Did Employee’s injury occur in the course and scope of his employment, and if so, was the injury the substantial cause of the subsequent infection?

Employee contends he is entitled to attorney fees.  Employer contends that as Employee is not entitled to any benefits, he is not entitled to attorney fees. 

3.
Is Employee entitled to attorney fees?

FINDINGS OF FACT
The following findings of fact and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. Employer does restoration work on damaged buildings.  (Geiser).  On November 5, 2010, Employee was working for Employer repairing a water damaged residence. Employee demolished a built-in vanity in a basement bathroom and hauled the pieces upstairs and outside.  In removing one of the pieces, Employee scratched his abdomen on a protruding drywall screw.  The scratch was to the right and above Employee’s navel.  Employee recalls the date because it was a payday, and he was leaving that evening for a vacation to visit his daughter in Florida.  He did not report the scratch to Employer because minor scratches are a common occurrence for carpenters.  He showered and washed the scratch, but did not seek medical attention or use any medication.  (Employee).  

2. Employee stated he told Reuben Blaustein, who was also working on the job for Employer, that he had scratched himself removing the vanity.  (Employee).  Mr. Blaustein does not recall being shown the scratch and believed the first time he was told of the scratch was when Employee telephoned him from the hospital.  He remembers the vanity was removed after Employee had returned from vacation.  (Blaustein).  

3. Steven Huit, Employee’s brother, also worked for Employer, but did not work on November 5, 2010.  Steven had given Employee a ride to work that day, returned to take him home, and later took him to the airport to catch his flight to Florida.  Even though he was not “on the clock,” he helped Employee move the vanity top up the stairs and outside.  Employee showed him the scratch, which Steven described as “sizable” with a small amount of clotted blood.  Steven confirmed minor scratches were a common injury for carpenters.  (Steven Huit).

4. On November 12, 2010 while vacationing in Florida, Employee went to the beach with his daughter, Nicole Blake, and his grandchildren.  When Employee returned from the water after playing with his grandchildren, Ms. Blake saw a scratch on his stomach, above and to the right of his navel that was red and “enraged.”  She asked about the scratch, and Employee told her it happened at work before he got on the plane.  (Blake).  

5. On his return from Florida, Employee spent the night of November 13, 2010 in Seattle with his wife, Marguerite Huit, who had been in Oregon taking care of her ill father.  When Employee came out of the shower, Mrs. Huit noticed a scratch about four inches long that was “red and irritated,” and she told Employee he “needed to keep an eye on it.”   Employee told her he had scratched himself working on a vanity before leaving for Florida.  (Marguerite Huit).  

6. Employee returned to work on November 16, 2010, and, except for time around Thanksgiving, worked regularly.  (Employer Timesheets).  

7. On December 3, 2010, Employee went to work, but Eric Geiser, Employer’s owner, told him he didn’t look good and should go to the hospital.  Steven Huit took Employee to Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC) emergency room.  Employee complained of fatigue, a mild cough, and mild shortness of breath.  He was found to have a fever, and, after other tests, was diagnosed with a viral infection and sent home with instructions to rest and drink lots of fluids.  (Employee, PAMC Emergency Report, December 3, 2010.)  

8. Employee stayed home five days, but continued to get worse.  On the morning of December 9, 2010, he called his brother and asked to be taken back to the hospital.  (Employee).

9. Mr. Huit arrived at the emergency room complaining of fever, muscle pain throughout his body, and nausea.  He said his fever had increased since his last visit.  An abdominal CT scan revealed multiple splenic and renal cortical infarcts consistent with septic emboli. The preliminary results of an echocardiogram indicated the likelihood of vegetations
, and Employee was preliminarily diagnosed with endocarditis.  There is no mention of the scratch on Employee’s abdomen.  (PAMC History and Physical, December 9, 2010).  
10. Michele McCall, M.D., examined Employee in the emergency room.  She noted a rash on Employee’s toe, but made no mention of a scratch on his abdomen.  She had a long discussion with Employee and concluded “[t]his is spontaneous endocarditis.”  (PAMC Emergency Admit Report, December 9, 2010).  

11. Robert Bundtzen, M.D., an infectious disease specialist, was consulted.  Dr. Bundtzen noted that a brain scan showed multiple tiny embolic infarcts in Employee’s brain and that blood cultures revealed Staphylococcus aureus.  Dr. Bundtzen’s physical examination revealed a lesion around Employee’s right fifth toe that Dr. Bundtzen determined was an embolic lesion.  He makes no mention of a scratch on Employee’s abdomen.  Dr. Bundtzen diagnosed endocarditis with metastatic lesions to the spleen, kidneys, and brain.  He noted the source of the Staphylococcus was not clear, stating there was “no focal infection” and “[t]here is no good portal of entry.  . . .  This happens in a small percentage of the time right out of the blue, and I think that is what happened to him.”  (PAMC Consult Report, December 10, 2010)  
12. Marguerite Huit credibly testified that about December 11th she asked Dr. Bundtzen how Employee’s infection occurred and he explained the Staphylococcus bacteria was on the skin and there had to be some cut or portal of entry for it to get into the blood.  She told Dr. Bundtzen about the inflamed scratch on Employee’s abdomen a couple of weeks earlier.  Dr. Bundtzen told her that was likely the cause of the infection.  It was some time before Employee was lucid enough she could discuss the scratch with him.  (Marguerite Huit).  

13. On or before December 21, 2010, Employee spoke with Eric Geiser by telephone from the hospital and told him the November 5th scratch may have been the cause of the endocarditis.  (Employee, Geiser).  Mr. Geiser immediately called his insurance company, and on December 21, 2010, an unidentified person with the insurer or the adjuster filed a report of injury.  (Geiser, Report of Injury, December 21, 2010).  

14. On December 23, 2010, Employee was examined in the hospital by Mark A. Selland, M.D., after an echocardiogram showed worsening heart function.  Dr. Selland noted: “Sometime prior to his initial presentation, the patient sustained a scratch or cut to his abdomen which became red, inflamed, and ‘infected’ per the patient.  Otherwise, the patient had no skin lesions, abscesses or other infections.”  (PAMC Consult Report, December 23, 2010).  
15. On December 24, 2010, Employee was diagnosed with congestive heart failure (PAMC Consult Report, December 24, 2010).
16. On December 30, 2010, Employer controverted all benefits on the grounds the injury was not timely reported and expert medical testimony was needed to attach the presumption of compensability.  (Controversion Notice, December 28, 2010).  
17. On January 4, 2011, Dr. Bundtzen wrote a progress report stating: 
Mr. Huit describes to me a significant scratch or abrasion on his abdomen that he acquired on November 5, 2010.  This lesion was described as reddened and tender.  It eventually resolved between Nov. 15-20.

The portal of entry of the Staph. aureus was not apparent when he presented for medical care.

The abdominal abrasion is a possible portal of entry for this life threatening staphylococcal infection.  (PAMC Progress Report, January 4, 2011).  

18. On January 7, 2011, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim, seeking temporary total disability and medical benefits, interest, penalties, and attorney fees and costs.  (Claim, January 7, 2011).  

19. On January 13, 2011, Employee was discharged from the hospital.  (PAMC Discharge Summary, January 13, 2011).  
20. On January 27, 2011, Herbert Semler, M.D., a cardiologist, reviewed Employee’s medical records for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  Dr. Semler stated: “The alleged injury . . . is described in retrospect as a scratch on the abdomen from a screw that touched his stomach . . .”  Dr. Semler diagnosed endocarditis due to Staphylococcus aureus.  When asked whether Employee’s scratch “is more probable than not the substantial cause” of the endocarditis, Dr. Semler responded:

[I]t would be my opinion that the alleged scratch, if it [sic, in] fact it happened at all, fails to meet the scientific basis for being the substantial cause for the disability or need for medical treatment.  There is no convincing proof it arose out of the course of his employment.  There was no objective evidence from his co-workers that there was any scratch.  . . . My opinion is based on the lack of evidence to support the alleged scratch . . . .  The more likely medical explanation for the cause of the bacterial endocarditis is unknown. . . .

Dr. Semler was asked whether he would expect a scratch to Employees chest on November 5, 2010 to still be visible when he was admitted to the hospital on December 9, 2010.  Dr. Semler responded: 

This is a difficult question to answer precisely, because it varies from individuals as to how long the abrasion was infected.  There was no evidence that it was visible.  No one saw the alleged scratch, so I would conclude the employee did not sustain a scratch or abrasion as there was no evidence when he was admitted to the hospital on December 9, 2010.  One would think that if he had a Staph infection of the skin, that it would still be visible when admitted to the hospital on December 9, 2010.  

When asked about the timing between an infected scratch and the development of heart valve vegetation, Dr. Semler answered: “I do not know that there is a “typical timing” between an infected scratch and the development of heart valve vegetation.  Usually the typical timing for an infection and the development of heart valve vegetation is four to six weeks . . . ..”  (Semler EME Report, January 27, 2011).  

21. On January 31, 2011, James E. Leggett, M.D., an infectious disease specialist, also reviewed Employee’s medical records for an EME.  Dr. Leggett was also asked whether the scratch “is more probable than not the substantial cause” of the endocarditis; he replied:

I do not believe that  Mr. Huit’s scratch/abrasion was a more probable than not substantial cause of his S. aureus aortic valve endocarditis.  Staphylococcus aureus infection is associated with colonization and subsequent introduction under the skin, into the lungs, or other entry.  The portal of entry may be rather insignificant, such as the alleged abrasion/scratch.  This is just as likely to occur outside of work as at work.  The source of the S. aureus was not the screw or the vanity, but rather the patient’s own skin.  

When asked if he would expect a November 5, 2010 scratch to be visible on December 9, 2010, Dr. Legett replied: “I would not expect a local self-limited abrasion/scratch, even if infected, to still be visible a month later. 

In response to a question about other probable sources of the infection, Dr. Leggett stated: “[M]ost staphylococcal infections result from trauma, including lacerations, abrasions, paronychia, folliculitis, and entirely subclinical breaks in the integrity of the epithelium or endothelium.”  And Dr. Leggett’s opinion as to the substantial cause of Employee’s infection was “an unidentified source as noted by Dr. Bundtzen in his initial consultation note.”  (Leggett EME Report, January 31, 2011).  

22. On February 2, 2011, Employer filed a controversion notice denying all benefits based on Dr. Semler’s EME report.  (Controversion Notice, January 31, 2011).  

23. Employee underwent aortic valve replacement surgery on February 16, 2011 and was discharged from the hospital on February 20, 2011.  (Breall SIME Report, May 16, 2011).  

24. At some point after the controversion, Employee, who is a disabled veteran, began receiving his medical care through the Veteran’s Administration (VA) medical system.  (Employee).   

25. On May 16, 2011, Employee was seen by William S. Breall, M.D., a cardiologist, for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Breall explained that Employee’s congestive heart failure was due to the endocarditis.  In addressing causation, Dr. Breall stated: 

[T]here is no evidence in the records to indicate that the scratch on the abdomen caused a bacteremia which resulted in infective endocarditis involving the aortic valve.  The scratch on the abdomen did not produce pus.  It was not infected.  There was no culture obtained from that scratch at the time it was red in appearance.  While it is possible that this might have been the portal of entry for the Staph bacteria, it is not probable.  I cannot state that there was “a reasonable medical degree of probability” that the scratch on the abdomen cause the endocarditis.  To do so would be complete and utter speculation.  

One must remember that Staph aureus is ubiquitous.  If it is present all over the body, it will exist in the nose and throat as well as all over the skin.  I can get into the bloodstream spontaneously in a susceptible individual from just about any place.  

In his summary, Dr. Breall stated “it is my opinion that there is no hard evidence that Mr. Huit had an industrial accident resulting in his infective endocarditis . . ..”  (Breall SIME Report, May 16, 2011).  

26. On October 22, 2011, Francis X. Riedo, M.D., an infectious disease specialist, also examined Employee in an SIME.  Dr. Riedo states that none of the medical records prior to or at the time of Employee’s admission to the hospital on December 9, 2011 report an abdominal scratch.  Dr. Riedo stated he would expect some residual evidence of an infected scratch even four to six weeks later.  Regarding causation, Dr. Riedo stated: “While possible, I do not believe on a more probable than not basis that the November 5, 2010 scratch was the substantial cause of Mr. Huit’s endocarditis. . . . While it is medically reasonable that a scratch as described by Mr. Huit can cause this illness, it is possible but again not probable given the lack of any skin lesion noted just three to four weeks after the scratch.”  (Riedo SIME Report, October 22, 2011).  

27. On February 26 2013, Dennis L. Stevens, MD, an infectious disease specialist with the VA noted:  

Patient does state as did Dr. Bundtzen . . .  that he had sustained a scratch on the abdomen while working [sic, for] Ashwater Burns a fire and water restoration company.  Apparently, the area got red and persisted for about a week, but resolved on its own and this occurred approximately 1 month before his symptoms of endocarditis developed.  This is the only potential portal of entry and the patient denied IV drug abuse, etc.  (Progress Notes, VISTA Electronic Medical Record, February 26, 2013).  

28. On June 3, 2010, Employee filed an affidavit of attorney fees.  The affidavit sets out total attorney fees of $21,326.90 and $891.60 in costs for a total of $22,218.50, but does not provide any detail as to the work done, the time spent, or the rate charged.  

PRINCIPLES OF LAW
AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

. . .

(4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee's need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.
AS 23.30.095.  Medical examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  

AS 23.30.097. Fees for medical treatment and services.

. . . .

(d) An employer shall pay an employee's bills for medical treatment under this chapter, excluding prescription charges or transportation for medical treatment, within 30 days after the date that the employer receives the provider's bill or a completed report as required by AS 23.30.095(c), whichever is later.

AS 23.30.100. Notice of injury or death.

(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.

. . . .

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given;

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.

In Cogger v. Anchor House, 936 P.2d 157, 160 (Alaska 1997), the Supreme Court addressed the notice requirement:

Under Sullivan, the thirty-day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury's compensability.  518 P.2d at 761.  The exact date when an employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, and missing the short thirty-day limitation period bars a claim absolutely.  For reasons of clarity and fairness, we hold that the thirty-day period can begin no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs. However, it is not necessary that a claimant fully diagnose his or her injury for the thirty-day period to begin.  

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions.  

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

(b) If delay in giving notice is excused by the board under AS 23.30.100(d)(2), the burden of proof of the validity of the claim shifts to the employee notwithstanding the provisions of (a) of this section.

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, including medical benefits.  Carter, 818 P.2d at 665; Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279; Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991). 

Application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a "preliminary link" between his or her injury and the employment. See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  Medical evidence may be needed to attach the presumption of compensability in a complex medical case. Burgess Constr. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  However, an employee “need not present substantial evidence that his or her employment was a substantial cause of his disability.”  Fox v. Alascom, Inc., 718 P.2d 977, 984 (Alaska 1986) “In making the preliminary link determination, the Board may not concern itself with the witnesses' credibility.” Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).  
If the employee establishes the preliminary link, then “if the employer can present substantial evidence that demonstrates that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the [need for medical treatment], etc., the presumption is rebutted.”  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 (Mar. 25, 2011) at 7.  Substantial evidence is “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”  Fireman's Fund Am. Ins. Companies v. Gomes, 544 P.2d 1013, 1015 (Alaska 1976). The determination of whether evidence rises to the level of substantial is a legal question.  Id.  Because the employer’s evidence is considered by itself and not weighed at this step, credibility is not examined at this point.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985).  

An employer has always been able to rebut the presumption of compensability with an expert opinion that “the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence, however, if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's injury or disability, without ruling out work-related causes.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n., 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).  If medical experts do rule out work-related causes, then the experts do not have to offer alternative explanations.  Id.  

If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the claimant need produce no further evidence and prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.  Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997). “If the employer rebuts the presumption, it drops out, and the employee must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability, need for medical treatment, etc. Should the employee meet this burden, compensation or benefits are payable.”  Runstrom at 8.  

“In determining causation, exact medical certainty is not required. A reasonable probability will suffice.”  Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assur. Corp., 477 P.2d 993, 996 (Alaska 1970).  Also, the testimony of medical experts need not be relied on where the expert lacks knowledge of relevant facts concerning the injury.  Id.  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 087 (August 25, 2008) at 11.

AS 23.30.145. Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded. In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

In Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146 (Alaska 2007), the Alaska Supreme Court discussed how and under which statute attorney's fees may be awarded in workers' compensation cases. A controversion (actual or in fact) is required for the board to award fees under AS 23.30.145(a). “In order for an employer to be liable for attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(a), it must take some action in opposition to the employee's claim after the claim is filed.” Id. at 152. Fees may be awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) when an employer “resists” payment of compensation and an attorney is successful in the prosecution of the employee's claims. Id. In this latter scenario, reasonable fees may be awarded. Id. at 152-153.

In Lewis-Walunga v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCAC Decision No. 123 (December 28, 2009), the commission stated “AS 23.30.145(a) establishes a minimum fee, but not a maximum fee. A fee award under AS 23.30.145(a), if in excess of the statutory minimum fee, requires the board to consider the “nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.” Id.

In determining a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b), the board is required to consider the contingent nature of the work for an employee in workers' compensation cases, the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer or carrier, and the benefits resulting from the services performed, Wise Mech. Contractors v, Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 973, 975 (Alaska 1986).

ANALYSIS

1.
Did Employee timely report the injury?

Under AS 23.30.100(a), an employee must notify the employer within 30 days of the date of the injury.  However, under AS 23.30.100(d), the board can, in appropriate circumstances, excuse the failure to give timely notice.  Employer correctly notes, however, that if the board excuses untimely notice, under AS 23.30.120(b) an employee loses the presumption of compensability established in AS 23.30.120(a).  In this case, Employee’s notice was timely; the late notice provision does not apply.  

Employee alleges he was scratched at work on November 5, 2010.  However, the Supreme Court held in Cogger the thirty-day period can begin no earlier than when the first compensable event occurs.  Employee did not seek treatment for, nor is he seeking compensation for the scratch itself.  He is seeking compensation for the subsequent infection and endocarditis, which were first diagnosed on December 9, 2010.  That would be the first compensable event.  The report of injury was filed December 21, 2010, well within 30 days, and Employee’s notice is timely under AS 23.30.100(a).  

2.
Did Employee’s injury occur in the course and scope of his employment, and if so, was the injury the substantial cause of the subsequent infection?

The presumption analysis applies both to the question of whether an injury occurred in the course and scope of employment and to the question of whether the injury is a substantial factor in an employee’s disability or need for medical treatment.  

To attach the presumption, an employee must first establish a preliminary link between his or her claim and the employment.  The preliminary link requires only “some,” or “minimal,” relevant evidence that does not need to rise to the level of substantial evidence.  In complex medical cases, medical evidence may be needed to establish the link.  In determining whether the presumption is met, Employee’s evidence is not weighed against conflicting evidence nor is credibility considered.  

To rebut the presumption, Employer must present substantial evidence that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  In rebutting the presumption, Employer’s evidence is not weighed against conflicting evidence nor is credibility considered. 

a.
Did Employee receive a scratch in the course and scope of his employment?

Whether Employee scratched his abdomen at work is not a complex medical question.  The lay testimony of Employee and Steven Huit that Employee received the scratch at work are sufficient to raise the presumption.  

Employer successfully rebutted the presumption with Dr. Bundtzen’s December 9, 2010 note that “[t]here is no good portal of entry” and Dr. Semler’s opinion that a scratch on November 5, 2010 would still have been visible on December 9, 2010.  

Because Employer rebutted the presumption, it drops out, and Employee must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that, in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of his disability and need for medical treatment.  Employee’s description of how and when the scratch occurred is credible.  Employee’s testimony when coupled with the credible testimony of Steven Huit, Marguerite Huit, and Nicole Blake is persuasive evidence Employee was scratched at work on November 5, 2011.  The testimony of Employee and Steven Huit is particularly convincing.  While they both testified scratches were a common occurrence for carpenters, they were both able to identify the date of this scratch with certainty for two reasons: it was payday, and it was the day Employee flew to Florida to vacation with his daughter.  In contrast, Mr. Blaustein’s testimony was less certain.  He “did not recall” being shown the scratch, and “believed” the first time he was told of the scratch was a telephone call from Employee when he was in the hospital.  

Because of the lack of consensus, the medical experts’ opinions on the existence of the scratch are less persuasive than the lay testimony.  Dr. Semler admitted it would be a difficult question to answer, but thought a November 5th scratch would still be visible on December 9th.  Dr. Riedo also expected some “residual evidence” of the scratch even four to six weeks later.  On the other hand, Dr. Leggett would not expect the scratch to still be visible, even if it had been infected.  And implicit in Dr. Bundtzen’s report that the November 5th scratch was a possible portal of entry for the infection even though it was not visible when he presented for care, is the conclusion such a scratch would have healed and not been visible on December 9th.  This lack of consensus reduces the weight accorded to the doctors’ opinions.  

Also, Drs. Semler and Riedo both rely heavily on the fact that the medical records from December 9th do not mention the scratch.  It is not clear from either the emergency room record or Dr. Bundtzen’s December 9th report whether Employee was actually questioned about injuries that may have healed or whether the doctors were relying solely on their physical examinations.  Additionally, although the medical reports from December 9th and the next few days do not specifically say so, the clear impression is that the doctors were far more concerned with diagnosing and treating a life-threatening illness that in determining its cause.  Additionally, Mrs. Huit explained she and Employee were not aware of the significance of a scratch until Dr. Bundtzen explained that it could have been the portal of entry for the bacteria.  

In reaching an opinion, only Dr. Semler relied on witness testimony regarding the scratch.  He noted that a co-worker, presumably Mr. Blaustein, did not remember Employee mentioning a scratch on November 5th.  There is no evidence that any of the doctors were aware other witnesses had seen the scratch, and their opinions are also given less weight for that reason.  

On the whole, the lay testimony regarding the occurrence and existence of the scratch is most persuasive.  The preponderance of the evidence establishes that Employee scratched his abdomen at work on November 5, 2010.  

b.
Was the scratch the substantial cause of Employee’s infection?

Having established he suffered a scratch at work, Employee must also establish that the scratch was the cause of the endocarditis.  Again, this is a question to which the presumption analysis applies.  Whether the November 5 scratch is the substantial cause of Employee’s endocarditis is a complex medical question, and medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link.  

To raise the presumption, Employee needs only “some,” or “minimal,” relevant evidence the scratch was the source of the infection; substantial evidence is not required at this stage.  Fox.  Without regard to conflicting evidence, and without weighing credibility, Dr. Steven’s February 26, 2013, note stating the scratch was the only potential portal of entry for the infection raises the presumption.  

To rebut the presumption, Employer must present substantial evidence that a cause other than the scratch played a greater role in causing the infection.  Again, credibility is not considered, and while Employer’s evidence is not weighed against conflicting evidence, but a determination must be madeas to whether Employer’s evidence rises to the level of substantial evidence.  

Dr. Semler clearly doubted the scratch occurred, but the existence of the scratch was resolved above.  In addressing other potential causes, Dr. Semler responded the “more likely medical explanation for the cause of the bacterial endocarditis is unknown.”  “Unknown” is not substantial evidence that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the need for medical treatment.  

Dr. Leggett does “not believe the scratch was more probable than not the substantial cause.”  However, under Runstrom, an employer cannot merely say work was not the substantial cause, it must show some other cause played a greater role in causing the need for medical treatment.  Dr. Leggett acknowledged the scratch could have been the portal of entry, and when asked about other probable sources of the infection, he gave a list of possible portals of entry, including lacerations, abrasions, and folliculitis.  Other than the work-related scratch, he did not identify Employee as having any of those conditions.  And when asked about the substantial cause, he replied it was “an unidentified source.”  “Unidentified source” is not substantial evidence that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the need for medical treatment.  

Dr. Breall stated the scratch was a possible portal of entry, although he did not believe it was the probable cause.  Again, under Runstrom, an employer cannot merely say work was not the substantial cause, it must show some other cause played a greater role.  Dr. Breall did not identify any other specific sources but stated the bacteria can get into the bloodstream spontaneously “from just about any place” The mere fact that the bacteria could get into Employee’s bloodstream from “just about any place,” is not substantial evidence that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the need for medical treatment.  
Dr. Riedo also questioned the existence of the scratch, but again, that issue has been resolved.  He stated that a scratch as described by Employee could be the portal of entry, but it was “impossible to attribute to a single event.”  Clearly, if it is impossible to attribute the infection to a single event, it cannot be attributed to a cause other than work.  Dr. Riedo’s opinion is not substantial evidence that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the need for medical treatment.  

Doctors Semler, Leggett, Breall, and Riedo appear focused on the lack of substantial evidence to support the existence of the scratch as well as establishing that the scratch was not the probable cause of the infection.  That, however, is not what is needed to rebut the presumption.  Merely saying the source of the infection was “unknown,” “unidentified,” “just about any place,” or “impossible to attribute,” is not substantial evidence of some non-work related cause.  Employer did not rebut the presumption, and Employee prevails on the raised but un-rebutted presumption the source of his infection was the work-related November 5, 2010 scratch.

Nevertheless, even if Employer had rebutted the presumption, Employee proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the scratch was the substantial cause of his endocarditis.  Given the multitude of potential sources for the infection, it is apparent that Employee cannot prove with certainty the scratch was the source of the infection nor can Employer prove with certainty it was not.  However, exact medical certainty is not required.  Beauchamp.  

As the initial treating doctor, Dr. Bundtzen’s opinions are given the most weight.  He is an infectious disease expert, who physically examined Employee on December 9, 2010.  Despite the fact he found no obvious portal of entry in his initial exam, when he learned of the scratch he concluded it was a possible portal of entry.  As previously noted, implicit in his conclusion is the opinion that such a scratch would have healed by the time of his examination.  

Dr. Stevens did not treat Employee until well after the injury, and his opinion relied on Employee’s and Dr. Bundtzen’s statements.  His statement that the scratch was the only potential portal is nonetheless credible.  While other doctors pointed out there can be many possible portals of entry for the bacteria, there is no evidence Employee actually had any of the other possible portals.  

Drs. Breall and Riedo acknowledged that a scratch, such as Employee’s, was a possible portal of entry.  Dr. Leggett also stated that such a scratch could serve as the portal of entry.  Only Dr. Semler did not say that Employee’s scratch could have been a portal of entry, but he doubted the scratch had even occurred.  Doctors Breall, Riedo, Leggett and Semler questioned the very existence of the scratch.  However, as noted earlier, they lacked the credible lay testimony presented at hearing regarding the scratch’s existence.  It is not clear they would reach the same conclusion if they had the additional information.  For that reason, their opinions are given less weight.  

Employee’s daughter saw the scratch on November 12 and his wife observed it on November 13.  Both described the scratch as red and inflamed.  This fits well with Dr. Leggett’s statement that a skin infection would peak five to seven days after inoculation, and is persuasive evidence Employee’s workplace scratch was infected.

Employee and his wife first raised the November 5th scratch as the source of the infection sometime in mid-December 2010.  There is no evidence they had any knowledge of the incubation or development period of the infection at that time.  Later, doctors Semler and Leggett provided information regarding the time it would take for the infection to develop.  In late January 2011, Dr. Semler stated the typical timing for development of heart valve vegetation was four to six weeks.  On January 31, 2011, Dr. Leggett said death would occur in less than six weeks without treatment.  From November 5th, when Employee was scratched, to December 3rd, when he first went to the hospital is exactly four weeks.  It is four weeks and six days from the scratch until December 9th, when the endocarditis was diagnosed.  The timing of the December 5th workplace scratch fits squarely within the EME physicians’ timelines and is persuasive evidence Employee’s infection originated with the November 5 workplace scratch.  

In summary, doctors Breall, Riedo, Leggett and Semler lacked important, credible evidence about the existence of the scratch, and for that reason their opinions regarding causation are given less weight.  The lay testimony the scratch was inflamed and the timing between the scratch and diagnosis are consistent with the medical testimony about the time needed for the infection to develop.  When the lay testimony is combined with Dr. Bundtzen’s and Dr. Stevens’ opinions on causation and the lack of any other clearly identified sources, the preponderance of the evidence is that the November 5, 2010 workplace scratch was the source of Employee’s subsequent bacterial endocarditis.  

3.
Is Employee entitled to attorney fees?

An award of reasonable attorney's fees under either AS 23.30.145(a) or (b) requires the consideration of the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed and benefits obtained.  Given the lack of detail in Employee’s attorney’s fee affidavit, that evaluation cannot be made.  However, AS 23.30.145(a) provides for a minimum fee award in the successful prosecution of a controverted claim.  Here, Employer controverted Employee’s claim contending the scratch was not the cause of Employee’s endocarditis.  Employee has successfully proved   the scratch was the cause.  Accordingly, Employer shall pay Employee statutory minimum attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(a) based on the payment of past and future medical costs, indemnity, and all other benefits related to the employee's injury.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
Employee timely reported the injury

2.
Employee’s injury occurred in the course and scope of his employment, and was the substantial cause of his subsequent infection.  

3.
Employee is entitled to attorney fees

ORDER
1.
Employee’s November 5, 2010 work injury was the substantial cause of his subsequent endocarditis.  

2.
Employer shall pay Employee statutory attorney fees in accordance with AS 23.30.145(a).

3.
Jurisdiction is retained as to Employee’s entitlement to specific benefits.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 15, 2013.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers' Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order. 

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the Board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the Board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the Board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of JOSEPH D. HUIT employee/applicant; v. ASHWATER-BURNS, INC., employer ;COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INSURANCE CO., insurer/defendants; Case No. 201018436; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 15th day of July 2013.






Kimberly Weaver, Clerk
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�   An excrescence on a cardiac valve or other portion of the heart, composed of platelets, fibrin, and often bacteria, and resembling a plant in general shape; seen in bacterial endocarditis and other diseases. Gould Medical Dictionary 1447 (Alfonso R. Gennaro, et al. eds. 1979).
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